RECEIVED

OCT 2 2 2018

No. 10438 WASHINGTON STATE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

TATYANA MASON, Appellant in this Court/ Respondent in the COA-II

and

JOHN MASON, Respondent in this Court/Appellant in the COA-II.

Tatyana seeks review of the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals division II in this case, No. 49839-1-II, filed on **July 31, 2018**.

A timely motion for reconsideration filed on August 20. The Court of Appeals denied the motion on **September 24**.

Tatyana Mason's Petition for Review Basis RAP 13.4

III. INTRODUCTION
IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. The Trial Court vacated two orders of child support pursuant to CR60(b)(11) extraordinary circumstances and sanctioned John and his attorney under CR11(a)(1)(2)(3) for multiply lies during the proceeding
B. On appeal, the court of appeals applied de-novo instead of abuse of desertion, overturn the trail court findings, approved John's lie which was specifically rejected by the trial court and substituted its own judgment4
VI. FACTS ON REVIEW
A. In issuing its decision, the trail court found
B. The Trial Court did not merely find John to be not credible, but found that John intentionally lies multiple times through his advocacies in the trial court in violation of CR 11(a)(1)(2)(3) by Judge
C. The Court of Appeals ignored the findings of the trial court, instead of applying the abuse of discretion standard
VII. ARGUMENT
A. Standard for Review

В.	The Trial Court Did not Abuse its Discretion
	When it Overturned the Two Child Support Orders Pursuant to CR60(b)(11)
	Orders Pursuant to CR60(b)(11)
C.	The Court of Appeals failed
	to give deference to the trial court's
	credibility determinations
	This Court to ignore John's answer to
	Tatyana's petition for review because
	John will continue lies through his advocacies
	in violation of RAP 18.9 as he did it during the trial court in
	violation of CR11(a) by judge and lies at the Court of Appeals in
	his opening brief and his answer to Tatyana's motion for
	reconsideration
VIII. CO	NCLUSION
XI. APP	ENDIX
(1	The Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion
. (1). The Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion Dated July 31, 2018
	Dated July 31, 2010
. (2). Order Denying Respondent (Tatyana's) Motion for
	Reconsideration dated September 24, 201840
	•
(3) The Trial Court's Oral Ruling dated 11/02/16
	3 RP at 469-482
(4)	
(4)	The Trial Court's Oral Ruling
	re: John was found lied through his declaration and his
	advocacies in violation of CR 11(a)(1)(2)(3) by judge RP 12/09/16; the ruling started at 4 RP 14 line 21 62
	KF 12/09/10; the fulling statied at 4 KF 14 line 21 02
(5)	The trial Court order vacated the 2013 order
()	of child support dated 11/27/16 See CP 122-5 85
	•
(6)	The trial Court order vacated the 2015 order of
	Child support dated 12/14/16 See CP 225-6

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES:

Boeing Co. v. Heidy , 147 Wn.2d 78, 87 (2002)
<u>Davis vs. Davis</u> , 2012-Ohio-2088
<u>First-Citizens Bank & Trust Co. v. Reikow,</u> 177 Wn.App. 787, 797, 313 P.3d 1208 (2013) p.13
<u>In re G.W.F.,</u> 170 Wn. App. 631, 637, 285 P.3d 208 (2012) p.17
<u>In re Marriage of Flannagan</u> , 42 Wn. App. 214, 709 P.2d 1247 (1985) p.12;13;19
<u>In re Marriage of Hammack,</u> 114 Wn. App. 805, 810-11, 60 P.3d 663 (2003) p.13
<u>In re Marriage of Jennings</u> , 138 Wn.2d 612, 980 P.2d 1248 (1999) p.12;13;19
McCallum v. Allstate Property and Cas. Ins. Co. 149 W. App. 412 (2009)
<u>Shandola v. Henry,</u> 198 Wn. App. 889, 903, 396 P.3d 395 (2017) p.12-3
<u>State v. Asaeli.</u> 150 Wn. App. 543 (2009)
<u>State v. Tili.</u> 148 Wn.2d 350, 360, 60 P.3d 1192 (2003) p.14
<u>State v. Eppens,</u> 30 Wn. App. 119, 126, 633 P.2d 92 (1981))p.14
<u>In re Marriage of Thurston</u> , 92 Wn. App. 494, 503-04, 963 P.2d 947 (1998) p.13

<u>I. Identity of Petitioner</u>: Tatyana Mason, respondent at the Court of Appeals, (herein after Tatyana), petitions for review by this Court.

II. Court of Appeals Decision: Tatyana seeks review of the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals in this case, No. 49839-1-II, filed on July 31, 2018. Tatyana filed a timely motion for reconsideration on August 20. The Court of Appeals improperly denied the motion on September 24. A copy of the opinions and the trial court rulings are provided in the appendix.

III. Introduction: The trial court in this case properly exercised its discretion under CR 60(b)(11) to vacate two child support orders under extraordinary circumstances. The trial court was concerned with Tatyana's damaged immigration status that left her with no legal authorization to work; John's domestic violence and lies though his advocacies; and that the child support orders prevented Tatyana from receiving her permanent resident status and obtaining employment.3 RP 471,75-76¹; CP 123(E) (H)²; Ex 38³; 4RP 17-9. The trial court did not merely find John to be not

The Verbatim Report of Proceedings are consecutively numbered and shall be referred to first by the date then "RP" then the page number: RP 10/17/16 is 1 RP at page; RP 10/18/16 is 2 RP; RP 11/02/16 is 3 RP; RP 12/09/16 is 4 RP.

³ RP 469-482 & 4 RP 14-21 are the oral rulings of the trial court.

² <u>CP 122-25</u> & <u>CP 225-26</u> are the orders vacated 2013 & 2015 orders of child supports.

Ex 38 is the USCIS letter dated 02/27/15 stated that in order for Tatyana to receive her permanent resident status and green card, Tatyana needs to submit: Certified copy of dismissal from appropriate state child support. 3 RP 471; 3 RP 475-6 line 22.

credible, but **found that John intentionally lied through his advocacies** in the trial court in violation of CR 11(a)(1)(2)(3) by judge. 4 RP 18-19. Also, John hid his financial obligation under I-864 affidavit from Tatyana and the trial courts. 4 RP 17-18. In its unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals, rather than applying the required abuse of discretion standard of review, ignored the trial court's findings and substituted its own judgment. Op.11-4; 3 RP 471,75-6. Further, the Court of Appeals based its decision on John's false statements which were specifically rejected by the trial court under CR 11(a)(1)(2)(3). Op.13; 4 RP 17-9; 3 RP 474. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with prior, published decisions of the Court of Appeals and of this Court regarding CR60 (b)(11) which make clear the proper standard for review. Tatyana requests this Court accept review and reverse the court of appeals decisions.

- IV. Issues Presented for Review: (1). Whether the trial court acted within its discretion in vacating the 2013 & 2015 child support orders on the basis that the damage to Tatyana's immigration status which left her with no legal authorization to work and earn income was an extraordinary circumstance requiring relief in the interests of justice.
- 2. Whether the trial court's acted within its discretion in vacating two orders of child support on the basis that the USCIS required Tatyana to file a certified copy of dismissal from appropriate state child support or court which it will allow Tatyana to fix her immigration status and obtain

employment was an extraordinary circumstance requiring relief in the interests of justice.

- 3. Whether the trial court's acted within its discretion in vacating two orders of child support on the basis that "is going to be beneficial to both parties in long run: it will ultimately allow Tatyana to obtain citizenship later on, which will terminate John's I-864 obligation later.
- 4. Whether the trial court's acted within its discretion and find through its observation that Tatyana is facing a language barrier and she is been operating at a disadvantage in 2013 trial court without interpreters.
- 5. Did the Court of Appeals apply the correct standard of Abuse of Discretion in reviewing the trail Court's decision?
- 6. Did the Court of Appeals improperly ignore relevant facts in overturning the trial court's decision?
- 7. Did the court of appeals inappropriately reject the trial court's determination of credibility of the parties?
- 8. Did the court of appeals inappropriately limit the trial court and Tatyana's trail brief to whether the prior court should have considered the I-864 affidavit of support that had not been presented in 2013?
- V. Statement of the Case: (A). The Trial Court vacated two orders of child support pursuant to CR60(b)(11) as the extraordinary circumstances and sanctioned John and his attorney under CR11(a) (1)(2) (3) for multiply lies during the proceeding. (B). On appeal, the court of

appeals applied de-novo instead of abuse of discretion, overturn the trail court findings and substituted its own judgment. Because the court of appeals applied the wrong standard on review, the Supreme Court should hear this case and apply the proper standard of abuse.

VI. Facts on Review: (A) In issuing its decision, the trail court found that: "John brought Tatyana to the United States on a fiancée visa in June, 1999". 3 RP 469; CP 123 (C); Tatyana did not speak, or understand English. 2 RP 244; CP 123 (G). "The Court is persuaded that [Tatyana] has difficulty understanding and communicating in English [even today]." 3 RP 477; 4 RP 16; CP 123 (G). John handled all Tatyana's immigration paperwork and her immigration matters on his own and without the aid of an attorney. 2 RP 244. "John and Tatyana were married on August 19, 1999". 3 RP 469. CP 123 (C). Within 30 days after the parties' legal marriage, the USCIS required John to sign and file a notarized I-864 Affidavit of Support. INA §213 (a)(3)(b); CP 123(C). The Affidavit of Support is a contract between John and the United States Government "wherein [John] promises to the US government to financially support Tatyana who is being brought into this country by John" Ex.33; 3 RP 469-70; CP 123 (B). "Upon the I-864 application signed and notarized by John, there was a two-year period during which the conditions attached to that conditional permanent residence status [green card] could be removed [in 2001]". 3 RP 469-70; CP 123(D); Ex 8.

"Now, [the trial court] indicated that the conditions on the [Tatyana's] conditional permanent residence were not removed by John within the two years as required under the law" and "due to John's domestic violence toward Tatyana" Ex.38; 3 RP 471 line 2-4; CP 123 (E).

Marry Pontorollo testified at the trial that Tatyana was a client of their Domestic Violent organization since 2001 and based on their record- John is a perpetrator who was abusive toward Tatyana and her children. Ex 14; 3 RP at 385. Ms. Pontorollo's testimony found credible by the trial court:

"Perpetrator's manipulation of immigration status is extremely common [in the US]... It is a common utilization of control. Immigration status and threats of deportation are particularly when children are involved, are very common. It's a fear" 3 RP 385

"John had no real incentive to continue to work with Tatyana to maintain her permanent status and legal authorization to work in the United States". 3 RP 470; CP 123(E)(H). "[Tatyana] lived in the house with [John] that he was paying the mortgage on in order for her to survive". 3RP 475. "Tatyana become the victim of domestic violence from John" CP 123(E). "So it's not surprising that John did not want to file the necessary the USCIS forms to remove the conditions from Tatyana's green card on the conditional residence status within the two-year period". 3 RP 470; CP 123(E). "The parties separated on July 18, 2007." 3 RP 470.

"The 2007 court placed a Domestic Violence Protection Order against John". Supp. CP __, sub 50; 3 RP at 470. The 2007 Court found that "John committed act of abuse and control toward Tatyana, the court found that Tatyana is a disadvantage spouse; John has been dishonest with

the 2007 Court trial; John is secreting the children in bad faith". Supp. CP _, sub 50. "The divorce was final on June 24th, 2008". 3 RP 470. "Tatyana was not supported by John." 3 RP 475 line 17-21. After final divorce, "[Tatyana] was a full time student and taking out loans and lived out of her school work study". 3 RP 475. Final divorce did not stop John to continue his control toward Tatyana. John with help of his attorney Ms. Robertson filed hundreds of motions and petitions to harass Tatyana through the court in the manner of which the court system was not design. See docket of the case 07-3-00848-0 Mason vs. Mason.

In March 2011, John fabricated the evidences and "there was a modification proceeding which continued and ultimately resulted in a child support order being entered on November 25, 2013 against Tatyana" CP 9-23; 3 RP 470-1;475-6. Even though, Tatyana has no permanent resident status and legal authorization to work-- the 2013 court order stated that "Tatyana is voluntarily unemployed" CP 9-23; Op.12-3; 3RP 471; 475-6; CP 123-4(H). The 2013 trial court imputed income to Tatyana based on her school loan and her school work study, which was fundamentally wrong. CP 9-23; 3RP 471-2,75-6,77-8; CP123(G) (H); CP124(G). "The 2013 court failed to consider Tatyana's language barrier as also the complicated nature of this case" 4 RP 16 line 1-2; CP 123(G). "The 2013 trial court failed to consider the I-864 affidavit - where John is a sponsor for Tatyana who failed to pay his obligation". 3 RP 472;

CP 123(G) and that John intentionally hid his obligation from Tatyana and the trial courts though lies of his advocacies.3 RP 474; 4 RP 17-9; CP 208; CP 1367-8. Since Tatyana has no green card, legal authorization to work and income, the trial court found that "the I-864 obligation is such a significant factor in this case that to set a child supports without its consideration that John failed to pay his obligation to Tatyana under I-864 is unjust result". 3 RP 472,75-6; CP 123 (H); 124 (G); 4 RP 17-8.

Judge Wickham said: "I should say I've had a chance to observe [Tatyana] in court for three separate days with two interpreters and although she has a reasonable ability to use English, her English is not good, and her statements were more clear through the interpreters than in her English". 3 RP 477 line 21-4. In the 2013 trial court "[Tatyana] had no interpretative services in this case and prior to this trial proceeding" CP 123 (G). "so I believe Tatyana's been operating at a disadvantage" 3RP at 478 line 4. "It's not hard for me to understand why [Tatyana] might not have done well with an English-speaking attorney or with an Englishspeaking court prior to this proceeding." 3 RP 477 line 21-4. "Certainly, if a court was entering a child support order, it would take into account Tatyana's immigration status and and her ability to earn income under this status] also whether [John] receiving child support was also paying his obligation to Tatyana required by immigration law". 3 RP 472. "I think that goes without saying that that would be considered both in the

calculation of the child support and as to offsets." 3 RP at 472 line 6-12. According to INA §274(a)(a)4; INA §245(c)5 and SSI 01133.4556 the 2013 and 2015 trial courts violated these law. 3 RP 471,75-6; CP 123 (E)(H); CP 124 (G). "[Immigration] is a complicated field, even for people who work in it, and so it's not hard for me to understand why [Tatyana] would not have understood it fully in the prior proceedings". 3 RP 478 line 7-10. "I know that in the motion hearings I had leading up to this, [Tatyana] did not have interpreter services- she was in disadvantage." 3 RP 478 line 2. Also, the USCIS letter dated February 27, 2015 stated that the conditions were not removed from Tatyana's green card by John; that Tatyana does not have permanent resident green card status and legal authorization to work in the US. Ex 38. In order to receive a green card, Tatyana need to submit: Certified copy of arrangement or dismissal from appropriate state Child Support. Ex 38. See also, 3 RP 471,75-6; CP 491 (Tatyana's trial brief).

The trial court ruled on 11/02/16: "Tatyana, through her own testimony and through the testimony of her expert has presented compelling evidence that she is now in a disfavored status as someone who has significant unpaid child support and that the immigration authorities have the discretion to deny her permanent residency at this point, so she is in the awkward position of being in this country but having no ability to obtain permanent status. And with the focus on legal status that currently

⁴ <u>INA §274 A (a)</u> stated: "A noncitizen may not seek or obtain employment in the US without proper work authorization".

⁶ <u>INA §245(c)</u> "If a person works without proper authorization s/he may be found inadmissible and unable to adjust their status to that of a lawful permanent resident". ⁷ <u>SI 01133.455</u> "higher education work study is not credible income".

exists in this country, it's not hard to believe that most employers will not hire her, because she is not able to show proof of legal status. And were she to go back to immigration, she would most likely be denied because of the child support orders". **3 RP at 471.** "So based on all of this, I am prepared to vacate the child support order, which I believe will have the effect of allowing Tatyana to apply for her green card and remove the conditions that were placed on her conditional permanent residence status, which I think in the long run is going to be beneficial to both parties, because it will ultimately allow her to obtain citizenship, which will terminate the I-864 obligation. That's one of the grounds to do that. It also will allow her to obtain employment, which is another basis for terminating the obligation. Otherwise, I see no way for either party to get out of this box that you are both in". **3 RP at 475-6**

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT MERELY FIND JOHN TO BE NOT CREDIBLE, BUT FOUND THAT JOHN INTENTIONALLY LIED THOUGH HIS ADVICAIES IN THE TRIAL COURT IN VIOLATION OF CR 11(a) (1)(2)(3) BY JUDGE:

Under CR 11(a)(1)"John though his advocacies has made many misrepresentations that were not grounded in facts. On July 6, 2016, John's advocacy filed Ms. Seifert's declaration, who failed to acknowledge the existence of Department of Justice before Department of Homeland Security. Ex 49. Also, Ms. Seifert, who claimed herself as an immigration expert for 27 years does not know history of the immigration law and does not know what's the year of I-864 was enforced". Ex 49; Ex 80; 4 RP 4.

Under CR 11(a)(2)"John's advocacies **intentionally mislead** the trial court on the several cases including case cites as **Davis vs. Davis**, 2012-Ohio-2088. CP 45-92 (John's trial brief); 3 RP 474; 4 RP 5-6; CP 673.

Under CR 11(a)(3) During the trial proceeding, John have consistently perjured himself by stating in several of his declarations signed under oath that "he never signed and filed I-864 affidavit of

support". Ex 80, even the physical fact was presented at the trial court through FOIA⁷, John still denied his notarized signature and his obligation.4 RP 4-5; 4 RP 17-8.

On 11/02/16 the trial court ruled: "John and his advocacies raised a question that the I-864 affidavit was no longer operable and supported their argument with Davis v. Davis case. In Davis case the parties had a decree of separation; in this case we have a decree of divorce. Davis case does not apply here" 3RP 474. On 12/09/16 the trial court ruled: "I will impose the additional one-third under Civil Rule 11(a), and I'm doing that based on a declaration that was filed by Ms. Robertson July 6th. It's a statement of [John], and I'm going to read in pertinent part. This is from the first page of that declaration, "She claimed in part that I have filed an I-864 support affidavit when she came to this country, and, therefore, I should have been supporting her, and she never should have been required to pay child support. Nothing could be further from the truth." That's his statement. Then on the second page, "I believe the I-864 was a document I may have started to complete, but it was not what I was required to file and so I did not complete or file the document." And then later on that page, "Respondent claims that I would have had to complete I-864 as part of the fiancée visa application, but that is not true." And then on page three, "Respondent's representation that I had to have filed the I-864 form is simply not true." Those statements raise the issue of the existence of the I-864". 4 RP 17 line 12-25; 4 RP 18.

"Now, clearly clients are entitled to aggressive advocacies, but I believe the advocacies in this case presented an untrue presentation to the court which created unnecessary litigation. And I believe that that is a violation of the portion of CR 11(a)(1)(2)(3) which says that the signature of a party or of an attorney constitutes a certificate by the party or attorney that the party or attorney has read the pleading, motion or legal memorandum and that, to the best of the party's or attorney's knowledge, information and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances, (1), it is well grounded in fact; (2), it is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument; (3), it is not interposed for any improper purpose such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation." I believe those statements were made for that purpose, and, therefore, I believe CR 11 does apply here"4 RP at 18-9 line 11 ... ruling; (RP 12/09/16 ruling)

⁷ FOIA is the Freedom of Informational Act Certified Documents.

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS IGNORED THESE FINDINGS OF THE TRAIL COURT, INSTEAD OF APPLYING THE ABUSE OF DISCRETION STANDARD:

The facts added by the court of appeals goes beyond the findings of the trial court Op.11-3 and adds findings specifically rejected by the trial court. 4 RP 17-8. The court of appeals ignored the trial court findings that: (1). Tatyana's immigration status has been damaged by John; CP 123(E); 3 RP 471 line 2-7. (2) that Tatyana has no legal authorization to work; CP 123(H); 3 RP 471. (3) that the 2013 and 2015 orders of child support are preventing Tatyana from receiving her permanent resident status and obtain employment CP 123; 3 RP 475-6; (4) that Tatyana's language barrier also the complicated nature of this case" 3 RP 477-8 line 13; 4 RP 16; CP 123(G). The court of appeals ignored the Trail Court's findings and decided to write its own findings of fact and limited the trial court and Tatyana's trial brief to I-864. The court of appeals wrote:

"Here, the trial court vacated the 2013 child support order based on the parties 'failure to inform the court of the I-864 affidavit when the court entered the child support order. Op. 10 "But we hold that the court's failure to consider the I-864 affidavit in the 2013 proceeding is not the type of extraordinary circumstance required by CR 60(b)(11)"Op. 10. "During the 2013 proceedings, Tatyana was voluntarily unemployed." Op.11. "Tatyana argues that extraordinary circumstances exist because John knowingly withheld the I-864 affidavit from the court in the 2013 proceedings. But there is no evidence to support her argument. John testified that he was unaware that he had completed or filed the form. The I-864 affidavit Tatyana produced at the CR 60(b)(11) trial was signed in 1999, over a decade before any of the relevant proceedings began. John stated in multiple declarations that he did not remember filling out the I-864 affidavit, and added that he did not believe he was required to do so based on Tatyana's type of visa. The trial court made no factual finding that John knowingly withheld the affidavit from her" Op 13.

The Court of Appeals findings are in **direct opposition of the Trial**Court's findings that John and his attorneys had knowingly

misrepresented their knowledge considering the I-864 affidavit.

VII. ARGUMENT: (A). Standard for Review: This Court should accept review of a court of appeals decision when the decision is in conflict with a prior, published decision of the court of appeals or of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). The court of appeals decision in this case conflicts with the decision of this Court in In re Marriage of Jennings, 138 Wn.2d 612, 980 P.2d 1248 (1999) and with the published decision of the Court of Appeals in In re Marriage of Flannagan, 42 Wn. App. 214, 709 P.2d 1247 (1985). In short, the court of appeals failed to apply the required abuse of discretion standard of review. Instead, the court of appeals substituted its own judgment, ignored the trial court's findings and reasoning, and contradicted the trial court's credibility determinations.

(B). The Trial Court Did not Abuse its Discretion When it Overturned the Two Child Support Orders Pursuant to CR60(b)(11):

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