FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/21/2018 2:19 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96438-6

[Court of Appeals No. 49839-1-II]

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Marriage of:

JOHN MASON,

Respondent,

٧.

TATYANA MASON,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Avenue North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 ken@appeal-law.com Attorney for Respondent

FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER

The facts are faithfully reported in *Mason I* & *II*. The allegations in Tatyana's Petition are neither fair nor accurate. The record also does not support them. Her irrelevant scurrilous hyperbole regarding John and his counsel undoubtedly will be as unavailing here as is has been in the trial and appellate courts.

A short summary of the key facts: The parties married in 1999, divorced in 2008. The children disclosed Tatyana's child abuse in 2011. CPS verified their disclosures were "founded." John obtained full custody by 2013. Tatyana was offered opportunities to purge the .191s entered against her and to be reunited with the children. She failed to follow through. Her appeal also failed.

Tatyana brought a series of tardy motions, each of which was denied. But a new trial judge gave her a hearing and misused CR 60(b)(11) to "correct" Tatyana's own counsel's (perhaps tactical) decision not to bring forward the I-864 form during the 2013 proceedings. The Court of Appeals properly reversed based on a great deal of black letter law.

Review is as unjustified as it is unnecessary. No RAP 13.4(b) criterion is met. This Court should deny review. It should also award RAP 18.1(j) fees as a sanction payable to this Court.

GROUNDS FOR RELIEF & ARGUMENT

A. The standard of review is abuse of discretion, so no conflict with other decisions exists.

Tatyana argues the Court of Appeals failed to apply the correct standard of review, abuse of discretion. Pet. at 12 (citing *Marriage of Jennings*, 138 Wn.2d 612, 980 P.2d 1248 (1999); *Marriage of Flannagan*, 42 Wn. App. 214, 709 P.2d 1247 (1985)). But the Court of Appeals reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Mason II* at 8-9 (citing *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 360, 314 P.3d 380 (2013); *Shandola v. Henry*, 198 Wn. App. 889, 896, 396 P.3d 395 (2017)). Of course, its review focuses on the trial court's decision on Tatyana's CR 60(b)(11) motion, not the underlying judgment. *See Bjurstrom v. Campbell*, 27 Wn. App. 449, 450-51, 618 P.2d 533 (1980) (appeal from CR 60(b) motion "is limited to the propriety of the [ruling,] not the impropriety of the underlying judgment").

The appellate court applied this standard. No conflict exists.

B. No error occurred, and even if one had, that is not grounds for discretionary review in this Court.

Tatyana's actual argument concerns *how* the Court of Appeals applied the standard of review. This is simply an assertion of error. But as explained *infra*, no error occurred. And review would not lie in any event.

In arguing that the Court of Appeals failed to correctly apply the abuse of discretion standard, Tatyana relies on many of the same cases the Court of Appeals cited. *Compare* Pet. at 12-14 *with Mason II* at 8-9 (both citing, *inter alia*, *Shandola*, *supra*; *Marriage of Hammack*, 114 Wn. App. 805, 810-11, 60 P.3d 663 (2003); *Marriage of Thurston*, 92 Wn. App. 494, 503-04, 963 P.2d 947 (1998)). But she ignores the controlling precedents that court also cited: *Lane v. Brown & Haley*, 81 Wn. App. 102, 109, 912 P.2d 1040 (1996) (attorney negligence not sufficient to vacate judgment); *Marriage of Burkey*, 36 Wn. App. 487, 488-90, 675 P.2d 619 (1984) (same); *Marriage of Yearout*, 41 Wn. App. 897, 898, 902, 707 P.2d 1367 (1985) (lack of income to pay child support is not "extraordinary circumstances" under CR 60(b)(11))). Tatyana's silence on this controlling authority speaks volumes.

Simply put, courts may not use CR 60(b)(11) to correct alleged legal errors. *Hurley v. Wilson*, 129 Wash. 567, 568, 225 P. 441 (1924) ("We have too often held that such a proceeding as this cannot be used as a means for the court to review and revise its own final judgment"). Rather, this catchall provision is confined to situations involving extraordinary circumstances not covered by any

other section of the rule. *Union Bank, N.A. v. Vanderhoek Assocs.*, *LLC*, 191 Wn. App. 836, 844, 365 P.3d 223 (2015).

Extraordinary circumstances are irregularities extraneous to the action or affecting the regularity of the proceedings. *Marie's Blue Cheese Dressing, Inc. v. Andre's Better Foods, Inc.*, 68 Wn.2d 756, 758, 415 P.2d 501 (1966); *Tatham v. Rogers*, 170 Wn. App. 76, 100, 283 P.3d 583 (2012). And generally, extraordinary circumstances sufficient to afford CR 60(b)(11) relief are unusual circumstances not within a party's control. *State v. Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d 161, 169, 225 P.3d 973 (2010).

Errors of law are not extraordinary circumstances correctable through CR 60(b)(11): direct appeal is the proper means of remedying legal errors. *Union Bank*, 191 Wn. App. at 847; *Marriage of Furrow*, 115 Wn. App. 661, 674, 63 P.3d 821 (2003) (quoting Philip A. Trautman, *Vacation and Correction of Judgments in Washington*, 35 WASH. L. REV. 505, 515 (1960)); *Hammack*, 114 Wn. App. at 810. Tatyana failed to appeal the 2013 support order.

Yet the "trial court vacated the 2013 child support order based on the parties' failure to inform the court of the I-864 affidavit when the court entered the child support order." *Mason II* at 10. Indeed, the trial court concluded that the affidavit was a "significant factor in this case"

and that imposing child support without considering it created an "unjust result." CP 124. The trial court's apparent rationale was that the I-864 affidavit was new evidence not previously considered. *Id*.

But the Court of Appeals held that the 2013 court's "failure" to consider the affidavit is not extraordinary circumstances for three reasons: (1) the I-864 would have had no practical effect in 2013, in light of Tatyana's agreed imputed income (which, even if incorrect, could have been corrected only via an appeal that Tatyana let pass); (2) even if John owed Tatyana money under the I-864, that would not absolve her of her independent child support obligation (citing *Marriage of Khan*, 182 Wn. App. 795, 801, 332 P.3d 1016 (2014)); and (3) failing to produce evidence at trial is not extraordinary. *Mason II* at 11-13. Moreover, her counsel's failure to present evidence *at trial* also is not extraneous to the proceedings as a matter of law. *Id.* at 14. Tatyana challenges none of this.

Rather, Tatyana creates "findings" from whole cloth and misrepresents the findings the trial court actually made. Pet. at 1-12. While it is true that courts may use comments a court makes during colloquy to *interpret* the findings actually made – so long as those comments are consistent with the actual findings – that does not turn

everything a judge says during trial into a finding, as Tatyana appears to assume:

It must be remembered that a trial judge's oral decision is no more than a verbal expression of his informal opinion at that time. It is necessarily subject to further study and consideration, and may be altered, modified, or completely abandoned. It has no final or binding effect, unless formally incorporated into the findings, conclusions, and judgment.

Ferree v. Doric Co., 62 Wn.2d 561, 566-67, 383 P.2d 900 (1963) (emphasis added) (citing numerous cases). Court orders – such as findings and conclusions – are interpreted like statutes or contracts. See, e.g., Marriage of Thompson, 97 Wn. App. 873, 878, 988 P.2d 499 (1999). Even a trial court has no authority to modify its own order absent conditions justifying reopening a judgment. Id. Thus, Tatyana's attempt to use the trial court's oral statements to add findings to the trial court's order is unavailing.

The trial court's findings and conclusions are attached as App. D (CP 182-85). It entered eight findings. CP 183-84. None of them says that John lied. *Id*. While the trial court did say that Tatyana "was the victim of domestic violence," that finding is based on the 2007 DV order, but fails to account for the 2013 trial court's determination that John had committed no other DV and presented no risk of future DV. *Compare* CP 183 *with Mason I* at 4-5. In any event, this finding is

irrelevant to whether the trial court could vacate the 2013 Child Support Order. Its only purpose here is to prejudice this Court. That is not possible.

Tatyana nonetheless argues that Findings E, G, and H are extraordinary circumstances justifying vacating the 2013 Child Support Order. Pet. at 15. Aside from the irrelevant DV finding discussed *supra*, Finding E says *the parties* did not act to remove the conditions on Tatyana seeking permanent residential status. CP 183. This simply shows that Tatyana is at least equally at fault. That is not extraordinary. Tatyana cites no authority saying that these facts justify vacating a valid child support order. None exists.

Finding G notes that no prior court has considered the I-864, that Tatyana has trouble with English, that her prior lawyer did not obtain interpretive services for her in 2013, and that she has had an interpreter in these proceedings. CP 183. None of this is extraordinary. Tatyana's 2013 lawyer repeatedly failed to act. Ostensible attorney negligence does not justify vacating a valid court order. *Lane*, 81 Wn. App. at 109; *Burkey*, 36 Wn. App. at 488-90.

Finding H says that Tatyana is unable to work due to her immigration status and that her failure to pay child support "would likely prevent her from removing the conditions on her current

resident status and obtaining permanent residency in the United States." CP 183-84. These circumstances are hardly extraordinary – they are federal law. And again, Tatyana cites no authority for the doubtful proposition that U.S. immigration law presents an extraordinary circumstance justifying vacating a child support order.

Ultimately, the trial court's *conclusions* do not rely on these findings, but rather refer *solely* to Tatyana's counsel's failure to offer the I-864 affidavit during the 2013 trial (CP 184):

The Order of Child Support entered November 25, 2013 should be vacated because the Court was not informed of the existence of the 1-864 affidavit at the time of the entry of the order.

This (arguable) attorney negligence is the sole ground on which the trial court rested its CR 60(b)(11) ruling. And Tatyana cited no authority to the trial court to support the other theories she first raised on appeal. The appellate court did not err.

And even if it had, mere error is no basis for review in this Court. RAP 13.4(b). While Tatyana cites (b)(1) & (2), she shows no conflict with Washington law. And as the Court of Appeals noted, her lawyer's failure to present the I-864 affidavit in 2013 is harmless negligence (so to say) because it cannot absolve her of her duty to pay child support. *Mason II* at 10-12. No error occurred.

C. The trial court made no credibility findings, so the Court of Appeals need not "defer" to them.

Tatyana argues that the appellate court failed to "defer" to the trial court's alleged "credibility determinations." Pet. at 17-20. Here, as throughout her Petition, Tatyana falsely claims that the trial court made a credibility *finding* against John. *Id*. But the Court will search in vain for such a finding. See App. D. While it is true the trial court questioned John's earlier *affidavit* in oral statements during trial, John did not deny signing the I-864 during trial, explaining the purported discrepancy: he simply forgot he signed it 19 years earlier. The trial court entered no credibility finding against John. *Id*.

The appellate court notes the absence of a trial court finding that John intentionally withheld the I-864. *Mason II* at 4, 13. But Tatyana argues instead that the trial court found John not credible, solely relying on the trial court's oral statements regarding CR 11 sanctions – colloquy the appellate court held insufficient to support even those sanctions. *Mason II* at 16-17. Tatyana does not challenge the appellate court's holding vacating the CR 11 order. The appellate court correctly held that the trial court did not find John knowingly withheld the I-864. *Id.* at 13. He did not.

D. This Court should award fees under RAP 18.1(j) as a sanction payable to this Court.

This Court should award John fees for answering Tatyana's Petition under RAP 18.1(j) as a sanction for Tatyana's unflagging disparagement of John and his counsel. John has been patient. Tatyana has libeled him and his counsel at every opportunity.

For his part, counsel has received several personally insulting emails from Tatyana that go far beyond the bounds of decent discourse. One such email from her following the Court of Appeals' reversal says this:

You should be embarrassed and shamed for presenting false information to the court of appeals. I see you are overly aggressive and dishonest you are Поганный пидараз, мошеник...

The Court can no doubt obtain its own translation from the Russian, but suffice it to say here that, according to Google Translate, Tatyana spat out a homophobic slur while (again) calling counsel a liar – in Cyrillic!

Counsel has been called worse. But this sort of behavior – despite counsel's repeated warnings to refrain from sending vile emails – is beneath contempt. Awarding fees may send an appropriate message. Having them paid to this Court as a sanction under this Court's inherent authority would certainly do so.

CONCLUSION

No conflict exists with any appellate decision. This Court should deny review and order Tatyana to pay a sanction – perhaps in the amount of John's attorney fees for responding to this petition – to this Court.